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INTRODUCTION


The year 2016 sees the centenary of the founding of the East Kent Road Car Company, which, in various incarnations – including nationalization in 1969, a brief return to a local identity as a privatized concern in the 1980s/90s and finally takeover in 1993 by one of the new dominant players in the UK bus industry, the Stagecoach group – has served the people of east Kent well throughout those 100 years. This book takes the reader through those years and whilst it does not pretend to provide an exhaustive record of every facet of East Kent’s operations, it is hoped that it gives a comprehensive account of the company’s history as well as providing a brief insight into what it was like to work for East Kent.


For the author, the East Kent story started at the Light Railway Station at Hythe, terminus of the busy 103/A services from Folkestone. As a small boy attending infant school in the 1950s, I made the daily trip with my mother, around the corner to the bus stop, with its two quaint Greenly-designed wood and brick gabled bus shelters serving the buses but built by the RHDR; then boarding a smart burgundy and cream bus for the short journey of four stops to the eastern end of Hythe. Such a brief journey would seem odd to many people today familiar with the car-borne school run, but this was a different era and East Kent never let its passengers down.


At the start the regular vehicles were CJG-registered Leyland lowbridge PD1s but in 1956–7 a seismic change occurred with the arrival of the MFN-registered Guy Arab IVs with a well-proportioned Park Royal body. Even better, they offered an extremely good view of the driver’s cab from the lower saloon – heaven-sent for a small boy of five years of age! The MFNs appeared to take over many of the 103/A services from then on but a move of schools brought these first East Kent journeys to an end until secondary school. Interest temporarily transferred to the sister Maidstone & District Company, coming into Hythe and Folkestone on the jointly worked service 10 from Maidstone. This was probably because of the rarity value and the fact that they were one of the early users of the futuristic rearengined Leyland Atlantean, while East Kent stuck doggedly to traditional double-deckers until the late 1960s, being one of the last concerns to continue to receive the AEC Regent V chassis.


However, interest in East Kent returned, and a later need to pursue gainful employment led to an approach to the Company and a temporary position as a traffic clerk at the head office in Station Road West, Canterbury. A permanent position followed, then in later years moving to work as a conductor at Folkestone and a driver/conductor at Thanet. Little did that small boy of over a decade beforehand realize that he would be working on many of the vehicles that captured his interest in the late 1950s and early 1960s. While a longer-term diversion into the rail industry followed, East Kent always occupied a special position in the author’s mind, not only through general interest but perhaps because the company was very much a social organization and friendships with old colleagues from the 1960s remain to this day. Even in retirement, East Kent is still there; the author is part-owner of an East Kent Regent V, PFN 874, which is rallied across Kent each year.


So while this work celebrates East Kent’s centenary by recounting the history of the company over that time, it also reflects the author’s experiences and personal recollections, with a focus on the pre-nationalization East Kent and particularly the post-war years. The more recent past is not forgotten though, and the success of the local Stagecoach management in developing an efficient network, meeting today’s needs and at frequencies we could only have dreamed of in the 1960s and 1970s, is also recorded here. Finally, we should not forget the many groups and individuals who keep the memory of the traditional East Kent alive, particularly those who have preserved former East Kent vehicles, allowing the distinctive red and cream livery to be a regular sight still throughout the county. Welcome aboard!


Richard Wallace MA FCILT


Kenilworth, Warwickshire
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Hythe Light Railway Station, where the author first became acquainted with East Kent, is the location of AJG 26, one of the last of the Leyland TD5s from 1939 remaining in service until the early 1950s. The smartly uniformed driver is of note. MDEK CLUB – C. HILLMER







PART I


THE FIRST THIRTY YEARS


CHAPTER ONE
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COMPANY ORIGINS


FORMATION OF EAST KENT ROAD CAR COMPANY


Although the formal inception of East Kent as a registered company operating bus services was in August 1916, its origins go back further – to when a young entrepreneur, Mr Sidney Garcke CBE, stayed with friends in Kingsdown, near Deal, in 1906. While he was one of the few in possession of a primitive motor car, his attention was drawn to the fact that the majority of residents had to either cycle or walk to access the town of Deal; the only other option was a horse brake (small carriage), which ran three or four times a day. Although the railway was already established, the closest station of Walmer was some miles distant and there was no direct connection to Canterbury apart from a circuitous route via either Minster or Dover.


As fate had it, Garcke was already engaged in transport services, working for the Birmingham and Midland Motor Omnibus Company (BMMO), which was experimenting with early forms of petrol-driven buses as an alternative to the extensive, but limited in terms of range, tramway services in the Birmingham area. These Brush-built vehicles with Peter Brotherhood engines could not cope with the strenuous conditions of urban operation in Birmingham so a decision was taken to withdraw them. Garcke saw an opportunity for operation in the easier conditions of Deal, although whether he had considered their ability to cope with the hilly conditions surrounding the area is not recorded. He gained approval to use six of the cars on experimental services around Deal and they were re-equipped with new bodies – five as single-deck buses with bodies by Birch of London and the remaining one with a double-deck body by Brush of Loughborough, recorded as an ‘Olympia Show body’.


After earlier resistance by Deal town council to the issue of a licence, approval was gained, finally, for Deal & District Motor Services to commence operation and the vehicles were transferred from London to Deal, one driven by Garcke himself, although the time taken was excessive and arrival after dark resulted in a well-recorded prosecution for driving without lights. In April 1908 the services started, one between Kingsdown and Deal and the other, worked by the double-deck car, from Walmer to Deal. These are generally recognized as being the first regular, timetabled bus services in the United Kingdom.


Expansion followed and soon another service was run between Deal and St Margaret’s Bay, albeit only twice a day. Each route took one car, according to Garcke’s recollections in the East Kent Silver Jubilee brochure of 1941, with the other three needed as spares owing to poor reliability. Despite this, the venture was successful and by 1909 three more vehicles of Leyland manufacture were acquired, allowing the St Margaret’s service to extend to Dover and a new service to Sandwich –and later Canterbury – to be introduced. At first Deal & District was a subsidiary of the midlands-based BMMO operation, provider of the vehicles, but in 1910 the Deal undertaking passed to the British Automobile Development Company, which then became the British Automobile Traction Company (BAT) in 1912, which itself was part of the larger British Electric Traction Company (BET), which had tramway interests as well.
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The first Deal & District cars were mostly Brush single-decker but one, 0 1283 pictured here, carried a double-decker body. Behind can just be distinguished one of the single-deck cars. EAST KENT OMNIBUS





Meanwhile, in other areas of east Kent, omnibus and local coach services of various degrees were developing, some of which had commenced well before Garcke’s enterprise, although perhaps not to the regularity introduced by the Deal concern. Records exist of services as early as 1899, while London & South Coast, Folkestone (later taken over by W.P. Allen) was reportedly operating by 1905. Wacher and Company, a coal merchant of Herne Bay, had taken over some early services there that may have been operated as early as 1905 or before; services in Margate were started by Walter French, whose company was eventually titled Margate, Canterbury and District Motor Services Ltd. French also had an interest in the neighbouring Maidstone and District (M&D) concern operating in west Kent; the well-renowned Thomas Tilling had established services in the Folkestone area by 1914, while back in Thanet George Griggs set up Ramsgate and District Motor Coaches Ltd.


Thus the scene was set for what eventually became ‘East Kent’. The advent of war in 1914 – with vehicles requisitioned, the consequent ban on supplies, the prospect of future competition and with three of the companies having a degree of common ownership in one way or another – led to negotiations to amalgamate the five concerns. Negotiations were complex and challenging but a successful conclusion was reached in 1916. The East Kent Road Car Co. Ltd was formally registered on 11 August 1916 with operations commencing on 1 September.


The constituent companies at the time of the formation of East Kent and their respective services (numbers based on East Kent numbering in 1937) were as shown in Table 1.


One of the reasons for lack of expansion in the populous areas of Thanet and Dover was the existence of tramways in those areas, which already served the densest traffic corridors of Ramsgate to Margate/Westbrook via Broadstairs at the former, and Harbour to River and Maxton at the latter. The Isle of Thanet Electric Supply Company (IoTES) also ended up operating a fairly extensive network of bus services in the local area before their takeover.


The war years were characterized by many demands on the emergent company; conductresses were employed to fill the gap created by many male employees either volunteering or being called up to fight, while the limitations on the availability of fuel saw some vehicles equipped with gas-filled bags on their roofs as an alternative means of engine propulsion. One oft-reported anecdote records that on one windy day, two cars operating the Dover–Folkestone route near Capel had their bags blown off and out to sea, never to be seen again! It is reported that in May 1918, 7,915 miles (12,997km) were operated by gas-equipped vehicles; this was probably less than 6 per cent of the normal monthly mileage but gave a saving of 1,584 gallons (7,201 litres) of petrol.


In terms of governance, Garcke became chairman, a role he was to undertake until 1946, remaining a director until his death in 1948, whilst the other directors joining him at the start were Messrs French, Grant, Griggs, Howley, Wacher, Wolsey and Wolsey Jnr, many names already recognizable from their interests in the aforementioned constituent companies. Alfred Baynton (awarded the OBE in 1945) became the company’s first secretary and was to have a long association with East Kent, becoming joint general manager in 1926 and sole general manager from 1942 until retirement in 1948. In 1966 the company’s Jubilee brochure records him as still attending company social functions at the ripe old age of eighty-four! While the first chief engineer was a Mr T. Clabburn, the key influence in engineering matters throughout these inaugural years was his successor, Major C. Murfitt OBE, who took over in 1919 and continued in the post until his resignation in 1942. In the intervening period he became joint general manager (with Alfred Baynton) in 1926. His positive direction in achieving a high degree of standardization on Leyland and Dennis chassis and the modern fleet that ensued should not be underestimated.


Table 1 East Kent Constituent Companies






	Company


	Routes


	‘East Kent’ Service No. (1937 scheme)













	
Deal & District





















	
Deal and Walmer/Kingsdown


Deal and Folkestone via Dover and St Margaret’s Bay


Deal and Eastry via Finglesham


Deal and Canterbury via Sandwich


Dover and Canterbury


Canterbury, Ashford and Hythe



	
79


80, 90


13A


13


15


1, 10







	Ramsgate & District


	Margate, Ramsgate and Canterbury


	9, 52






	
Margate, Canterbury


& District



	
Margate and Ramsgate


Margate, Canterbury and Faversham



	
52


3, 8







	
Wacher & Co.






	
Herne Bay and Canterbury


Whitstable and Canterbury



	
6


4







	
Tilling


(Folkestone District)



	
Folkestone, Sandgate and Hythe


Folkestone and Cheriton



	
103


106










After one year, East Kent was recorded as having seventeen routes in operation, which, allowing for overlaps on some of those listed above, shows that the constraints of wartime had provided little opportunity for further development at this stage. The focus was on establishing the new company on a firm basis; one of the first actions was to set up their head office from 1917–18 in a property already owned and used as a depot by BAT in Station Road West, Canterbury, thus establishing East Kent at a location that became synonymous with their operations for more than sixty years. Nearby, a Central Works was established in Kirby’s Lane from 1920, taking over the functions previously located at Deal (No. 2 shed) between 1918 and 1920. Prior to this, work was often farmed out to Tilling-Stevens at Maidstone and other concerns in London. The Central Works also carried out body work, transferred from Deal, before the coachworks as well as a new depot were established at St Stephen’s in 1925–6.


EAST KENT’S LEGACY FLEET


The company inherited a mixed set of vehicles, as was to be expected. A total of seventy-two (excluding one not operated) came into stock. From Deal & District the Company acquired a varied set, totalling seventeen, of Daimler, Leyland, Burford, Straker-Squire and Brush chassis; the three Margate, Ramsgate and Wacher concerns likewise provided a mix of Sunbeam, Lacre, Daimler, Commer, Straker-Squire, Ensign, Karrier, Maltby and Albion chassis totalling twenty-seven whilst Folkestone District brought some degree of continuity with twenty-seven Tilling-Stevens TS3 petrol electrics plus a 24hp Tilling-Stevens. One of the Deal acquisitions, O 1284, had its origins with Garcke’s original enterprise. Information published in the company’s staff magazine, the East Kent Omnibus, in 1948, suggests a Thames chassis was also acquired but there is no evidence of this marque being acquired in the Maidstone & District and East Kent Bus Club’s (hereafter recorded as MDEK Club) Fleet History of 1978. All were single-decks with a mixture of bus, charabanc and coach bodies from various builders; again continuity came from the Folkestone concern, with most bodies built by Tilling.




Table 2 East Kent Vehicles at Inception (1916)






	Type

	Chassis

	Body

	Registrations

	Total

	Date/Notes




	Single-deck charabanc

	Tilling-Stevens

	Tilling 32-seat

	LC 4197

	1

	1916 Ex-Folkestone District






	

	Leyland/Burford

	?

	FK 340/KT 6014

	2

	1912/15 Ex-Deal & District





	

	Lacre/Commer/Karrier

	? 26- or 27-seat

	D 8251/D 9578/KT 6930bb/7090/629


	5

	1912bb/13/15/16 Ex-Wacher Herne Bay





	

	Straker-Squire/Albion

	? 27- or 28-seat

	KT 7779/LF 316bb/9976/82/90


	5

	1912/16 Ex-Ramsgate Motor Coaches





	

	Sunbeam/Lacre

	? 10- or 27-seat

	BB 247/D 9412

	2

	19?/13 Ex-Margate, Canterbury & Dist.





	

	Daimler

	?

	KT 8752

	1

	1916/New




	

	Tilling-Stevens

	?

	LP 9300/694/LR 8008

	3

	1916/New




	Single-deck coach

	Lacre/Commer/Ensign

	? 26- to 32-seat

	FM 535/KT 3849bb/6149/352/458/LN 9993

	6

	1911/14/15 Ex-Margate, Canterbury & Dist.





	Single-deck bus

	Brush

	Brush

	O 1284bb


	1

	1906 Ex-Deal & District





	

	Leyland/Straker-Squire

	?

	D 8827bb/KT 1557/KT 8013/117

	4

	1913/14/16 Ex-Deal & District





	

	Daimler/Straker-Squire

	? 28- to 31-seat

	KT 384bb/2503/4487/6857/7228

	5

	1913/15 Ex-Margate, Canterbury & Dist.





	

	Commer/Daimler

	28-seat

	KT 2152/6802

	2

	1914/15 Ex-Wacher, Herne Bay





	

	Tilling-Stevens TS3

	Tilling 32-seat

	LH 88xx/LH 9xxx/LP 8249-51

	26

	1914 Ex-Folkestone District





	

	Straker-Squire/Maltby/Daimler

	?

	KT 8166bb/8833/8934/8995

	4

	1916/New




	Single deck, type unknown

	Brush

	?

	O 12bb87/9/90


	3

	1906 Ex-Deal & District





	

	Commer

	?

	FH 903

	1

	? Ex-Wacher, Herne Bay





	

	Daimler/Burford

	?

	AC 29/30/36/KT 7086/LH 8863/M7741/2

	7

	1913/15 Ex-Deal & District





	

	Ensign

	?

	KT 6148

	1

	1915/chassis only Ex-Margate, Canterbury & Dist.





	

	Tilling-Stevens TS3

	?

	LC 5092

	1

	1916 (lorry body) Ex-Folkestone District













Source: MDEK Bus Club


Note: One ex-Wacher Daimler charabanc, KT 2153, was not operated and not recorded here although briefly taken into stock.


The Club’s records also list a mix of eight new vehicles arriving in 1916 after the take-over, variously coming from Daimler, Straker-Squire, Maltby and Tilling-Stevens. These vehicles are believed to be the fulfilment of earlier orders from the acquired companies and again were all single-deck. A number of vehicles owned by the acquired companies were probably not taken into stock or not fit for service even if they were. Reports, again from the Omnibus, suggest that in the second full month of operation, October 1916, a maximum of thirty-six vehicles were in service with a total mileage for the month of 86,626 (142,243km).


VEHICLE LIVERY


The livery carried by the company’s vehicles was a deep burgundy red, of various shades over the years but specially produced for East Kent, coupled with cream relief. The application changed over time but at the start, for single-decks (the whole fleet at this time) red covered the lower panels with cream above, being supplemented by black mudguards and lining out – yellow for coaches and black for buses. The lining was phased out from the mid-30s and the black mudguards reverted to red from 1948. To distinguish between coaches and buses, from around the mid-1930s the company introduced a predominantly red livery for the former with, depending on body design, a cream band below the windows and a cream flash above. Some vehicles had mulberry-red window surrounds, and later deliveries, probably from the Leyland TS8 coaches of 1937, introduced two shades of red applied to lower and upper panels respectively.


The company was quite forward-thinking in terms of paint application. Post-war anecdotes in the Omnibus record that East Kent had adopted a new synthetic paint process in 1921, at that time in its infancy. It is also recorded that prior to 1919 the company did not carry out its own painting; certainly an outside paint shop was recorded in use at Ringwould. The function was finally brought in-house, with both paint and body work being carried out at Deal until around 1920. In this period the company employed only seven personnel in the body repair shop. These comprised three body makers, two panel beaters, one blacksmith and one trimmer. Once a premises at Dane Road, Margate was acquired with the Sayer’s business in 1919, the paint and trimming shop was located there from 1920. At the time cars received twelve coats of paint and took three weeks to complete. By 1939, following the move to new premises at St. Stephen’s, Canterbury, which took place in 1925/6, a more efficient process had reduced this to four coats, which took only five days to complete, resulting in an annual output of 388 cars. ‘Cars’ was always the term used by East Kent for its vehicles, deriving from the ‘Road Car’ element of their title and is used in this book where appropriate.




[image: image]


One of the original acquisitions, AC 36 a Daimler of 1915 ex- Deal & District with a later East Kent charabanc body at Deal Pier with her crew, before South Street was brought into use for services. Note the conductor’s Bell Punch machine. The ‘ring numbers’ either side of the dash were to do with licensing; the two different numbers were needed due to services crossing two local authority areas. MDEK CLUB – JESS WILSON







[image: image]


An unidentified car, probably one of the Daimlers with Birch bodies, stands at St Peter’s Place, as evidenced by work on the new bus station, which opened in 1922. RICHARD ROSA COLLECTION





RENEWAL OF THE ORIGINAL FLEET


Upon cessation of hostilities, the company was at last able to purchase new vehicles; in 1919 thirty single-deckers arrived, comprising fourteen TS3s, twelve AEC/Daimler YCs, two Daimler Ys and two Thornycrofts. As far as is known, most were buses of 26- or 29-seat capacity, the most numerous being the Hora 26-seat bodies on the AECs with the rest being a mix of bodies by Tilling, Palmer and Birch.


The following year set the scene for the vehicle composition of the fleet in the 1920s with the arrival of thirty-nine Daimler Ys and one Daimler CD with Short, Palmer or Birch 29- or 30-seat bus bodies, although three Palmer 28-seat charabanc bodies were included in the order. Two TS3s also arrived, but one was the completion of the earlier 1919 order and the other is thought to be a re-registration of an earlier chassis already in stock. This demonstrated that the focus was on expanding bus services rather than the excursion business, although there was nothing to prevent buses being used on excursions, as well as the vehicles originally acquired, and many actually would have been used as such in the summer season.
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FN 4334 was a Daimler Y of 1920. The basic nature of chassis construction with solid tyres is evident, although the multi-doored charabanc body looks in pristine condition. MDEK CLUB COLLECTION





Most of the initial acquisitions were disposed of by the early twenties, the AECs only lasting until 1921; and only a number of the ex-Folkestone TS3s and a few other isolated vehicles survived to the early thirties. At this stage East Kent was embarking on a process of re-bodying or body transfer and a number of existing chassis had bodies either transferred from other chassis or were equipped with new bodies, a number built by East Kent themselves. The bodybuilding activity of the company commenced in 1922 and continued until 1934, mostly concerning their own vehicles although some were built for other concerns. They were all single-deck buses and coaches, mostly low-capacity vehicles of fourteen or twenty seats on Morris and later Dennis Ace chassis, although some 32-seat charabancs on Daimler chassis were manufactured in the earlier years.


In this period the company also took on major engineering modifications, rebuilding a number of War Department Daimler chassis to normal-control pattern and one, uniquely, to a three-axle design. The other aspect of vehicle intake was the use, again of War Department chassis, of lorry-type vehicles, placing seats on them and earning them the epithet ‘lorribuses’. By 1927, the year when double-deck vehicles were first directly purchased, the fleet was largely of Tilling-Stevens or Daimler manufacture with the exception of vehicles acquired from absorbed operators, although from 1925 an increasing number of low-capacity 14-seat Morrises had been taken into stock complemented by some Gilford 20-seaters from Aldershot & District in 1930, as operations began to be extended out to more rural areas; some of these were used for new ‘one-man’ services in towns as well.


The company generally favoured local bodybuilders such as Shorts of Rochester or Beadles of Dartford, although a fair number of Brush bodies were purchased in this period as well. They were a mix of bus, coach and charabanc bodies with capacity generally between twenty-nine and thirty-eight seats, mostly with rear entrances except for the 14-seat Morrises, which had front-entrance bodies to facilitate driver-only operation, and the charabancs. With the exception of two Thornycroft open-tops acquired with the Sayer’s business in 1919, double-deck buses had not been taken into the formal operational stock up to this time; the only other one used had been that operated by the Deal & District Company at the start and this was not among the vehicles acquired by East Kent in 1916.


The Sayer’s buses were soon disposed of, within a year, and probably remained in the Margate area during this time. There is photographic evidence of other companies in the area using double-deckers, for example on the Canterbury–Herne Bay route, but it is not thought that any of these were acquired by East Kent. However, in 1927 the company purchased three ex-London General open-top 46-seat bodies, which were, by then, fitted to Daimler Y chassis; the bodies were possibly from ‘B’ type vehicles but, if so, much-modified. They were purchased as an experiment to assess the viability of introducing double-deckers to some routes; photographic evidence shows one employed on a Margate local service. As the rival IoTES concern also purchased open-toppers in 1928 and the Sayer’s business had operated the type much earlier, it may indicate that the authorities there were more kindly disposed to the use of this type of vehicle.
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FN 5006 was a Daimler, also from 1920, but with a bus body – pictured here on a Margate local service. It has pneumatic tyres, a later addition. MDEK CLUB COLLECTION





All of East Kent’s experimental batch were withdrawn by 1933, by which time nearly fifty new conventional double-deckers had entered service. The initial ten purchases also had open-top bodies but thereafter covered-top lowbridge buses comprised the normal intake.
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The Sayer’s and Isle of Thanet Motors (as distinct from IoTES) businesses were taken over in 1919 and 1925 respectively. These two scenes taken at Birchington Square, presumably prior to 1919, show Sayer’s KN 2873, a Thornycroft new in 1919 which probably accounts for its being retained by East Kent, one of the first double-deckers operated. On the right, Isle of Thanet’s D 9480 is a Straker-Squire charabanc of 1913, which was not operated. Note the competing horse-carriage, soon to be supplanted, while behind D 9480 is another competitor, one of the IoTES buses. RICHARD ROSA COLLECTION







CHAPTER TWO
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TRAFFIC AND OPERATIONS – POST-FIRST WORLD WAR CONSOLIDATION


INITIAL OPERATIONS – COMPETITION AND NEW OPPORTUNITIES


After the First World War, the operations of the company were based around what were called stage carriage services (that is, bus services), a term dating from a legislative Act of 1832, and, of course, a good degree of private hire or local tours and excursions. Soon after the war, however, an additional business opportunity had emerged from an unexpected quarter. A rail strike in September 1919 saw large numbers of people stranded in the Kent coast resorts and East Kent stepped into the breach by providing special coaches to transport people to and from the coast. Having experimented with the concept by default, the company set about exploring options for limited-stop ‘express’ services to and from London and these commenced in 1921, albeit on a summer-only basis at first.
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One operator acquired in 1927 was Wills of Folkestone. Car D 3913 was a Maltby charabanc from 1908, although it did not pass to East Kent, having probably already been withdrawn. RICHARD ROSA COLLECTION





Competition was rife in these early years, an issue foreseen when the initial five companies were merged into the East Kent operation in 1916. However, these competitors did not have the combined resources and sustainability that the ever-growing East Kent had. Competing operations were generally based around individual services or coach tours, running one or two vehicles acquired from war disposals and based around the peak of summer operations. Many could not survive and made approaches to East Kent during this period, resulting in their acquisition. This certainly helped East Kent, as it could not work sensibly in a situation such as that recorded on the Dover–Folkestone route at one time, when there were eighteen departures by a multitude of operators in a period of 20 minutes.




[image: image]


This early promotional tours leaflet dates from 1922 and shows a charabanc, probably a Daimler with Palmer body dating from 1921, in front of Kingsgate Castle. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





There were some notable exceptions to the small operators in competition with East Kent – particularly the two tramway companies operating in Dover and Thanet, the latter with what eventually became an extensive network of local bus services. The other more substantial concerns, some of which were running both bus and coach businesses, included W.P. Allen and Silver Queen, based in both the Isle of Thanet and in Folkestone (acquired 1925 and 1926); Will’s – ‘Pullman Coaches’ – of Cheriton (acquired 1927); Cambrian of London, who also ran a precursor of East Kent and Maidstone & District’s service 10 but from Maidstone as far as Dover and perhaps Deal (acquired 1929 jointly with M&D); London & South Coast (acquired 1933); the Redbourn concern, based in the Isle of Thanet; and Auto Pilots, Folkestone (the last two both acquired 1935). The dates of acquisition shown here are either when vehicles were transferred into the East Kent fleet, or when long-standing arrangements were formalized – for example East Kent had had a long-term interest in London & South Coast many years before the final takeover.


Such interests stretched to inter-availability of tickets. The East Kent timetable of summer 1928 for the Folkestone services to Dover, Hythe and Shorncliffe Camp noted that tickets issued by East Kent, Silver Queen, Pullman and London & South Coast would be accepted on cars of any company. The earlier, April 1928, timetable only mentions inter-availability with Silver Queen – prior to London & South Coast’s closer integration with the former – and only applied to the Dover and Hythe services.


Interestingly, vehicles of both the Silver Queen and Pullman concerns had been formally absorbed into East Kent some years beforehand, suggesting that the former branding of these two concerns was still being carried on some cars. Certainly Silver Queen branding existed on a number that were absorbed into the London & South Coast operation in 1928, a move which also accounts for the latter’s subsequent inclusion in the list of companies whose tickets were accepted on the routes listed. MDEK Club publications show that all of the cars of the Silver Queen operation at Folkestone were withdrawn by 1927, and from this one may deduce that the reference was to Silver Queen cars operated by London & South Coast rather than by East Kent.
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FN 5547 was a Tilling-Stevens TS3 from 1923 with Tilling bus body, although these could easily double up as private hires, as evidenced by this photograph, which appears to be on a bowls club outing at Folkestone Cheriton Road. Now equipped with pneumatic tyres, it also has the original style of fleet name, featuring a dot between the words. MDEK CLUB





THE EAST KENT NETWORK DEVELOPS


From the limited set of inaugural services, and despite the trials of wartime years, by 1926 a proper network across eastern Kent had been established, assisted by the large influx of new vehicles earlier, although penetration to the more isolated villages off the main arteries between major towns had yet to occur.


By early 1926 a number of purpose-built depots had become established to service these operations, perhaps the most notable being the original Deal & District base in Albert Road, Deal, which started up in 1908 and survived to the very end of the twentieth century. Other major depots of the time were based at Canterbury (St. Stephen’s Road), Dover (Russell Street), Folkestone (Kent Road), and Herne Bay (High Street); two of these, Folkestone and Herne Bay, dating from 1916 survived in 2015, although Herne Bay will be replaced by new premises in 2016. Dover and Canterbury were more recent, dating from 1923 and 1925 respectively. At this stage there were also a number of smaller sites supporting operations, most notably in the Isle of Thanet, Rye and Hastings, as well as minor outstations at country locations such as Ash and Wye. Ashford depot, in Station Road, opened in 1926, allowing expansion of local services in that area, and what was to become the major depot at Ramsgate – Westwood – opened in 1927.
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FN 6988 was one of the early Morris 14-seaters with East Kent body dating from 1925. The comprehensive destination boards for one of the newer, more rural routes are of note. These were carried prior to the use of roller blinds but are not thought to have lasted long. MDEK CLUB





New passenger facilities were also developed: a purpose-built bus station with offices and waiting facilities opened at St. Peter’s Place, Canterbury in 1922; a smaller ‘bus station’, with just a shelter, was developed at Dymchurch in the same year; while the new Ashford depot featured an off-street bus stand and passenger shelter.
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Two pre-war views of ‘St. Peter’s Road Car Station’. The first shows a variety of staff (and uniforms) in attendance. Note the driver’s long summer dust coat and the inspector’s white hat top. On the original photo a ‘Dames’ sign is just discernible on the Ladies – evidence of East Kent’s focus on the French excursion market even at this early stage. The other view, taken from the Westgate Towers, shows a Tilling-Stevens single-deck following one of the first covered-top TS1s. The large sign reads ‘ROAD CAR STATION FOR HERNE BAY, MARGATE, DEAL, FOLKESTONE AND ALL PARTS OF EAST KENT’. OMNIBUS SOCIETY – CHARLES KLAPPER





No service numbers were carried on the vehicle or identified in timetables at this stage; this would have to await further expansion and the acquisition of the Dover and Thanet tramway systems in early 1937, by which time the size of the network made a numbering scheme imperative. Some service numbers may have been carried in the early years and were certainly identified in early timetables and on some Bell Punch tickets, but in the late-1920s the only services identified numerically were the limited set of town services operating in Ashford, Deal and Canterbury, and for these the numbers used were duplicated across the three towns. Despite this, there is evidence of a numbering system being used internally within the company before the 1937 scheme was introduced; the May 1933 edition of East Kent’s Fare Schedules and Instructions to Drivers & Conductors has numbers allocated to each service, probably to assist the new licensing regime, although, apart from some limited examples (such as Service 1), there was little continuity with the scheme introduced later.




Table 3 Services in April 1926















	1937 number

	Route

	Via




	1 & 112

	Canterbury–Rye

	Ashford/Appledore




	3

	Canterbury–Faversham

	Boughton




	4

	Whitstable–Canterbury

	Blean




	6

	Herne Bay–Canterbury

	Herne




	7

	Herne Bay–Canterbury

	Broomfield




	8

	Margate–Canterbury

	St Nicholas/Sarre




	9

	Ramsgate–Canterbury

	Manston/Minster/Sarre




	10

	Folkestone–Ashford

	Hythe




	13/A

	Deal–Canterbury

	Sandwich




	” (part)

	Deal–Sandwich

	Walmer/Up. Deal/Eastry




	15

	Dover–Canterbury

	Lydden/Bridge




	16

	Folkestone–Canterbury

	Selsted/Denton




	17

	Folkestone–Canterbury

	Elham




	19

	Hythe–Canterbury

	Stone Street




	35

	Whitstable–Margate

	Herne Bay and Upstreet




	37

	Faversham–Herne Bay

	Whitstable/Graveney




	42

	Herne Bay Station–Hillborough

	Betinge PO




	43

	Herne Bay–Westcliff

	




	50 (part)

	Margate–Birchington Sq.

	




	51

	Margate–Westgate

	




	52

	Ramsgate–Margate

	Westwood




	53

	Ramsgate–Margate

	Broadstairs/St Peters




	60

	Margate–Deal

	Sandwich




	62

	Margate–Hastings (Service suspended)

	Folkestone




	67 (part)

	Canterbury–Charing

	Chilham




	79

	Deal–Kingsdown Links

	Walmer




	80/90

	Deal–Folkestone

	Dover




	87

	Dover–Ramsgate

	Eastry/Sandwich




	88

	Dover–Eythorne

	Waldershare Park




	99

	Folkestone–Shorncliffe Camp

	Cheriton




	101

	Folkestone–Newington

	Cheriton




	103/A

	Folkestone, Wood Ave. or Junction–Hythe

	Sandgate




	104/105

	Folkestone–Lydd

	Dymchurch




	112

	Rye–Ashford

	Wittersham/Appledore




	113

	Hastings–Rye

	Winchelsea




	119 (part)

	Ashford–New Romney/Dymchurch (Service suspended)
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This early letter is interesting because of the list of company premises in the header. Whilst dated 1929, it is obviously of earlier stock, as the Ramsgate garage address is the earlier premises at Hereson Road acquired with the Isle of Thanet Motors concern in 1925, while Westwood was opened in 1927. The pencilled numbers are file references. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





In tables 1 and 3 (beforehand) detailing services in 1916 and 1926, reference is made to the inaugural 1937 scheme, which, whilst it underwent some changes over time, was broadly recognizable up to the time National Bus Company (NBC) policy changes from 1971 onwards promoted considerable restructuring of services and their numbers, particularly for town services. See Appendix for a summary of the 1937 numbering scheme. Even today, after numerous changes of ownership, many of the 1937 route numbers remain or have been reinstated on their old corridors with necessary revisions to accommodate services to new developments.


At this time services did not start particularly early, generally between 8 and 9am, and finished around 9pm. Exceptions to this were the small number of town services, particularly in Folkestone and Margate, where services started around 7am and operated until after 10pm, those in Folkestone probably stimulated by demand from the army garrisons in the area. On Sundays the normal first weekday start-up journeys did not run but afterwards services were little different from those operating in the week. Again, apart from the more intensive town services operating in Folkestone and Margate and the trunk routes such as between Canterbury and Herne Bay, Dover and Folkestone and Ashford and Folkestone, frequencies were irregular. Some routes operated hourly or two-hourly with infill journeys where demand was greater, such as the Dover–St Margaret’s Bay section of the Dover–Deal service; others linked more rural locations such as Rye and Ashford or Hythe and Canterbury, running just a few journeys a day, often reflecting local markets.


Timetable booklets of the period carried summary details of some fares: for example, in 1926 the single fare from Deal to Canterbury cost 2/4d (12p), that from Deal to Eastry was 8d (3.5p), with a return at 1/2d (6p) giving a modest discount. Canterbury to Folkestone return was 3/6d (17.5p).


Season tickets had also begun to be issued from around this time, demonstrating that services were now rising to a level where they were attracting regular traffic rather than the leisure market. However, such tickets were only available quarterly or annually and, at first, only between a limited number of points such as Folkestone and Hythe or Canterbury and Herne Bay, where more frequent services were operating. Surprisingly, the intensive route between Dover and Folkestone is not listed as having season tickets available, probably because of objections by the Southern Railway – which would be reconciled once inter-available facilities were introduced when the railway later took shares in East Kent.




[image: image]


An early company timetable of 1926. At this stage they were issued free but were fairly small owing to the limited number of services then operated. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION
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This early Christmas holiday arrangements leaflet shows that services were already operated on Christmas Day, an ongoing feature of the pre-Second World War years. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





Unaccompanied parcel facilities were offered at an early stage, while cooperation with the Royal Mail was to come later, in 1929, when post boxes were introduced on some cars. This developed further when the company also began to be engaged in the carrying of mail, the mailbags being secured by post office personnel at the point of loading and released upon arrival at the destination.


One problem facing all operators, and East Kent was no exception, was the complex licensing arrangements in place, which at this time were in the hands of local councils. A service proposal that may have been acceptable to one council would, for example, not be acceptable to another at the end of the proposed route. Another issue was double-deck operation. Many councils were opposed to double-decker buses on various grounds: one was modesty, as top-deck passengers were able to peer into people’s bedrooms; another was the fear of such vehicles overturning on steep hills such as that at Sandgate. The unbridled competition, seemingly unrestrained by these local licensing arrangements, was another factor that was flagging up the need for change and better regulation. Eventually national concerns came to a head and the government of the day set about developing a structured approach to the licensing of services, vehicles and platform staff, which came onto the statute books as the Road Traffic Act (RTA) 1930 and which governed the industry in various incarnations up until the deregulation of the 1980s.
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Prior to the Road Traffic Act of 1930, licensing was in the hands of local authorities, as shown by this Folkestone and Hythe conductor’s badge. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





SERVICE EXPANSION IN THE LATE TWENTIES


By summer 1928, just twelve years after the Company’s formation, the network had expanded and was approaching a form that remained in place throughout its existence until 1969 and is still recognizable today, although the operations have gone through differing forms of ownership.


In the two intervening years since 1926, East Kent’s operations had expanded, incorporating a number of new routes that had begun to serve the more isolated communities off the main roads, while further local town networks had also become established. Local town services were, by now, also operating in Canterbury (four routes commenced earlier in 1927), Whitstable (one route introduced in 1928) and Ashford (three routes, two commencing earlier in 1927, with a further route introduced in summer 1928). The initial town or inter-urban services operating before in Herne Bay, Deal, Folkestone, Ramsgate and Margate were supplemented by further routes expanding the company’s presence in these areas.
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Network developments serving more rural areas in the two years between 1926 and 1928 are shown to good effect by comparing these maps from timetables of the period. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





Exceptionally, one in Ramsgate, the forerunner of what was to become service 71, was described as jointly worked with IoTES. Other routes, however, such as those from Margate to Ramsgate via both Westwood and St Peter’s, are also believed to have featured a measure of joint operation although not described as such in the East Kent timetable. In the country areas new services in addition to those of 1926, listed in Table 3 above, now reached out to many areas and are summarized below (later, 1937 service numbers in brackets).


From Canterbury to:


Hastings via Ashford, Brookland and Rye (2)


Whitstable via Chestfield (5)


Grove/Stodmarsh (11 and 12)


Stelling Minnis (18)


Hythe, extended to Dymchurch (19)


Waltham (20)


Dover via Adisham and Nonington (21 and 89)


From Faversham to Chilham (31)


From Herne Bay to:


Faversham, now also running via Dargate (38)


Reculver (39)


From Margate to Dover (61)


From Rye to Dymchurch via Brenzett, Ivychurch and St Mary-in-the-Marsh (62 part)


From Ramsgate/Sandwich to Dover via Nonington (68 and 89); terminus revised to Aylesham (68) by August 1928


From Sandwich to:


Preston/Westmarsh via Ash (74)


Sandwich Bay (75)


From Deal to:


Staple (77)


Barfreston (78)


From Dover to:


Eythorne, now extended to Elvington (88)


Guston/East Langdon (93)


From Folkestone to Aylesham (104 in the 1950s)


From Ashford to Wye via Brook (118)


In addition, the service between Canterbury and Whitstable/Tankerton had some through cars to/from Herne Bay, although these had been suspended by 1929 and the two trunk routes from Folkestone to Ashford and Deal respectively now featured through cars running between Ashford and Deal. Rural services to Preston changed soon after; by 1931 the service between Ash and Preston had been withdrawn. The Canterbury–Grove service was extended to Preston by 1929 and a Canterbury/Wingham–Margate route (later service 59) also now served the village although was only detailed in handbills that year. The Grove/Preston service had later been extended to Minster but was withdrawn from there by 1931. Further expansion in the same area saw a Canterbury/Wingham–Goodnestone service introduced on Saturdays, probably in 1929/30, while the Folkestone–Aylesham service was by then suspended.


Interestingly, despite the major expansion from 1929 to the early 1930s, which saw rural and outlying locations such as Alkham, West Langdon, West Hougham, Saltwood, Stowting, Camber and Winchelsea Beach now being served by new routes, by 1937 some of the through links existing in 1928 had ceased; some early on, possibly as a result of the recession at the time. For example, the services from Dover to Canterbury and Dover to Sandwich, both via Nonington, had both been split: the Sandwich service now ran from Ramsgate and diverted to Aylesham, while in the case of the Canterbury service, the link to Nonington had been withdrawn, the replacement service only running as far south as Adisham. The service across the Romney Marsh between Rye and Dymchurch via Brenzett, Ivychurch and St Mary-in-the-Marsh had meanwhile disappeared altogether. Possibly those isolated hamlets on Romney Marsh were abandoned by East Kent at this time to be served by local operators with lower overheads. In the post-war years a number of these services were re-established for a time, and that of the 21 and 89 runs today, albeit via the A2 to Aylesham, avoiding Adisham and operating under the latter number.
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The first double-deckers taken into East Kent stock were three Daimler Ys, FN 8092–4, in 1927, with ex-London General ‘B’ type bodies. They only lasted six years, so views of these cars are quite rare, but one is shown at Margate harbour on the Westgate service. EAST KENT OMNIBUS





Of particular interest in the 1928 timetables was the notice that ‘passengers travelling on the upper deck of an omnibus are cautioned to keep to their seats whilst going under bridges and to beware of overhanging trees’. This notice was already in the April edition although the first new double-deckers on fleet strength actually arrived later that summer, the only others being the experimental ‘B’ types acquired in 1927, which were not thought to have been widely used. Complicit in the delay in introducing double-deck vehicles were the local authorities, who at this time held sway in terms of licensing vehicles, routes and operating staff and, as noted earlier, often had an inherent objection to double-deckers being used. Canterbury appeared to be one of the most vociferous in its opposition even though, prior to East Kent’s operations, some local concerns had operated such vehicles into the city. All this was to change in 1931, when the role of local authorities in the area of licensing was replaced by a set of regionally based traffic commissioners once the new legislation governing bus and coach operations came into force.
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FN 9096 is one of the original Leyland TS1s from 1928–30 with Short open-top bodies. These were the first large batch of double-deckers to enter service with East Kent. This view at Margate harbour is unusual as it is prior to takeover of the Isle of Thanet concern – here you can see one of their Thornycrofts with Vickers body (No. 27/KP 418) on IoTES service 2 to Ramsgate (later East Kent 52). FN 9096 has a service number here although no such number was recorded in the timetable for the Westgate service. OMNIBUS SOCIETY – R.T. WILSON





Introduction of Joint Services with Maidstone & District


Despite concerns and impending changes in legislation, a long-discussed linking of two individual routes across Ashford to provide a through Folkestone to Maidstone service jointly worked by East Kent and M&D still had difficulties in gaining approval from the Folkestone authorities, according to Frank Woodworth in his book published to celebrate East Kent’s seventy-fifth anniversary. Once M&D had purchased some local undertakings and thus gained the requisite vehicle licences the service commenced in March 1929. A link across Ashford had been in place for some time beforehand, at that time operated by the Cambrian concern that was taken over by East Kent and M&D in November of that year.


The joint service became an instant success, running twice an hour through most of the day until fairly late at night. This success saw a further joint service introduced across Charing, linking East Kent’s established Canterbury–Charing service to Maidstone in November 1930. This was never to be the successful venture that the Folkestone service had been, however, and operations in 1931 saw only five journeys each way, one still involving a connection at Charing. By 1936 the service had improved to six journeys each way without any requirement to change buses. Despite this, the service would always be a Cinderella compared to the Folkestone route and it was gradually reduced over the years, particularly in the 1960s and 70s, until its eventual withdrawal some years later.
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One of the Morris Commercial Imperial double-deckers from 1932. Rare vehicles indeed; most, if not all, were based at Folkestone, although Ashford may have operated a couple for a short time. JG 2907 is seen at Folkestone Harbour, on the joint service with M&D to Maidstone. Despite being numbered 10 by M&D, East Kent did not number its routes until 1937, dating this view to before then. MDEK CLUB





Both jointly worked routes used the M&D numbering system already in existence – No. 10 for the Folkestone service and 67 for the Canterbury one. Despite this, East Kent studiously avoided using the numbers in any of their timetables prior to 1937. Bizarrely, the company’s fare table of 1933 used the number 67 to identify the Folkestone–Maidstone route. The relationship of the two adjoining BET-owned companies was always close and agreement relating to their two spheres of operation had been reached at an early stage: East Kent’s stage carriage operating area kept to the east of the notional line between Faversham, Ashford and Rye, including provision of the local services in the last two towns, where East Kent was the dominant operator, as well as projections from East Kent territory into the M&D area to both Maidstone and Hastings. Takeovers in the Hastings area in 1934 involving both companies saw East Kent venture a little further westward, details of which follow later.
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A Rye Tours leaflet of 1927 featuring images of the company’s charabancs. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION
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Eleven of the Tilling-Stevens B10C2 buses from 1928 were re-bodied with Park Royal coach bodies in 1933–4. FN 9004 sports her new body and the pre-war coach livery. MDEK CLUB – JESS WILSON





1920s Tours and Express Services


The tours and excursion market had also grown. Not only were local tours offered, but in 1928 longer-distance itineraries to North and South Devon, the Wye Valley and Oxford and the Thames Valley were being promoted. The company was alive to the need to be forward-thinking, and in 1929 the tours programme was again expanded to offer other destinations, such as North Wales. Even in East Kent’s westernmost outlying area of Rye, a comprehensive set of local tours was being offered: by 1927 excursions across into the bordering Maidstone and Southdown concerns’ area to places such as Battle Abbey, Hawkhurst Moor and Eastbourne were being promoted, as well as more local excursions.


East Kent’s location on the Channel coast meant that more innovative excursion options were also available by this stage. Special tickets allowing travel on both bus and steamers were being promoted for journeys to both South-end and Calais, as well as localized steamer and coach trips between Ramsgate and Margate, returning by ‘Road Car’, a term East Kent had always used and which is retained to this day on the legal lettering of Stagecoach’s buses. A year later, in 1929, what was to become a significant business in post-war years, the Northern France day-tour market, was developing further, with day excursions to Boulogne and Dunkerque being offered plus longer, weekend trips across the border to Ostende in Belgium. East Kent’s role was in promoting the excursions and then providing feeder cars to the boats; at this time no cars were transferred to the continent, and local French and Belgian carriers would have been used for any excursion operations across the Channel.


In 1928 the London express services were starting to expand. Some were still running summer only, but the network was well established with the following services:


London–Boughton–Canterbury–Margate–Broadstairs–Ramsgate


London–Chilham–Canterbury–Ash–Sandwich–Deal–St Margaret’s Bay


London–Whitstable–Herne Bay


London–Ashford–Hythe–Folkestone–Dover–St Margaret’s Bay
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The company issued publicity for its London services in various forms. These views show the all-routes timetable and an individual handbill for the Dover service, both from 1929. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION





Surprisingly, the Ramsgate service remained suspended even into the Easter period but others were shown as operating by Easter, the Deal service apparently provided by an extension of the St Margaret’s Bay/Dover service rather than by a separate car running via Canterbury. There was a degree of joint working: the Ramsgate service was operated jointly with Motor Coaches (London) Ltd, also known as MT, while the St Margaret’s Bay service was worked with London & South Coast Motors (1915) Ltd, in which East Kent already had an interest. Both companies were to be absorbed into East Kent over the next few years. In the high summer there were generally three or four journeys each way, some of those to Whitstable and Herne Bay involving a change at Canterbury. One notable point is that in a spring 1929 leaflet the four express services were identified alphabetically as follows:


Service A – Margate/Ramsgate


Service B – Herne Bay


Service C – Dover/St Margaret’s Bay


Service D – Deal


These identifiers were not set out in the company’s main timetables nor were they repeated in handbills issued later in the year; a numbering system for express services would have to await the passing of the Second World War, only being introduced in 1950.


The terminal in London was, at the time, located at Lupus Street near to Victoria prior to the opening of Victoria coach station in 1932. For a period, in 1929, the company’s services were extended to Schoolbreds department store near Tottenham Court Road, where passengers were invited to ‘use Reading, Writing and Rest Rooms free of charge’. In summer 1928 there was some symmetry in London express fares, those to the outer terminals of all routes being 6/- (30p) single, 10/6d (52.5p) return. However, there appeared to be some idiosyncrasies in the fares policy at the time; the earlier Spring/Easter 1928 timetable, operating from 2 April, shows that single fares were considerably more expensive 6/6d (32.5p) to Herne Bay but the return was lower at 10/- (50p). By May 1929, a leaflet of the time shows that all four services were running and the single fare to the outer terminals had reduced to 5/6d (27.5p) with the return remaining at 10/- (50p), the 1928 off-season level, with the following high summer fares increasing to the former 1928 high-season levels.


It is probable that the April 1928 single fares were actually misprints, it being more sensible to encourage traffic across the fringes of the main season through a lower fares policy. The company were alive to this as later handbills produced in September 1929 for the Dover service, now running in the winter, show even lower fares. This assumption on pricing is confirmed by a rider in the September 1936 timetable and fare table that states ‘Reduced Winter Fares are now in operation’.


Another important development for express service operations, this time in 1929, was the introduction of the South Coast Express service, another joint operation, this time with Southdown Motor Services and M&D. It ran between Margate, Dover, Folkestone and Rye onward to Eastbourne, Brighton, Portsmouth and Bournemouth with other facilities through to Weymouth (though these were not operated by East Kent). By 1931 M&D’s involvement had ceased and the service was shown as running only as far as Bournemouth. Further changes in 1932 saw the Bournemouth-based Elliot Brothers’ ‘Royal Blue’ concern operating the service west of Portsmouth and from then on East Kent’s literature up to the outbreak of war – and the service’s suspension – showed it as a Margate–Portsmouth operation. Elliot’s business was later taken over by Western National and the involvement of all three companies continued, with the exception of the wartime cessation between 1939 and 1946, until nationalization in 1969 and, more importantly, the near-total obliteration of individual company identities into the monolithic National Express combine in 1972.




[image: image]


The route map for London services in the 1920s. Note the central London terminals of Lupus Street and also Schoolbreds, a short-lived extension. This would all change once Victoria coach station opened in 1932. AUTHOR’S COLLECTION







CHAPTER THREE
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THE 1930s – TOWARDS A VIRTUAL EAST KENT MONOPOLY


FARES AND LOCAL TOURISM PRE-SECOND WORLD WAR


In the early 1930s stage carriage fares were largely unchanged from 1926, although, for example, the single fare from Deal to Canterbury quoted earlier for 1926 had actually reduced to 2/- (10p). From now until the outbreak of the Second World War, fares remained broadly the same, after having been reduced following the end of the First World War. Child fares were also now available, but only in the form of scholars’ season tickets or scholars’ privilege vouchers, the latter priced at 1/- (5p) per annum and allowing half fare on single or return journeys for bona-fide scholars up to sixteen years of age. Children under three were carried free, this concession limited to one child per adult. Freely available child fares were later introduced, probably after 1931, looking at regulations carried in timetables of the period, but certainly no later than 1933; the rate was generally half of the adult fare with the exception of the lowest fare values. The availability of season tickets had widened to encompass journeys between most main towns.
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Your

28th October, 1929.

Messrs. F.J.Parsons Ltd.,
Herald Place,
Folkestone.

20

In reply to vour letter of the 24th instant I find that

Dear Sirs,

you are correct in stating that an overcharge of §/- was made on our
invoice No.5120 of the 26th August last, and I therefore have pleasure
in enclosing herewith a credit note for this amountwhich I trust will
ensble you to balance your Ledger,

I desire to take this opportunity of apologising for the

overcharge.

Yours faithfully,

ENC.
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The “EAST KENT” Series of lllustrated GQuide Books and Posteard Views
of all places of interest are on Sale at all of the Company’s OMices.
For particulars of “ Anywhere '’ _tickets see page 17.
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From RYE and WINCHELSEA.

The Coaches depart from Cinque Ports Street,
Winchelsea, at the times mentioned below
advance at the Company’s Offices, Tower Street, Rye (Tel. 43).

Rve,

i
and the Post Office,
and seats should be booked in

AFTERNOON TRIPS.

1. Battle Abbey

‘ DAY, 1‘ DEPART.

[Return Fares
Adults Child'n

Via Udimore, Cripps Corner, Mount- FromWinchelsea TUESDAY | 2.15 pm. | 3/6 2/9
field ; Return via Baldslow & Ore.-
(One Hour at Destination). From Rye 1 280pm. | 3/- 2/3
|
2 Hurstmonceux - ‘
ia d Oak, Cripps Corner, | -
l‘;;:llcﬂgjlxumldd l\cn:rrr:pms.ém;. From Winchelsea WEDNES- | 2.5 pm. | 4/6 3/6
Hastings, Wincl | DAYS |
(One Hour at Destination). From Rye ‘ 230 pm.  4/- 3)-
3 Bodiam Castle : } ‘
o RERSIINT, e e 2050m. | 3629
Peasmarsh. ‘
(One Hour at Distination). el ,SUNDAYS 230pm. | 3/- 23
4 Hawkhurst Moor -
Via Peasmarsh, Newenden & Sand-  From Winchelsea| FRIDAYS | 2.15 p.m. | 3/6 2/9
hursll;ORfluI(g_ via Cripps Corner, i an
Broad Oak, Udimore,
r&;fy Hour at Destination). 4 SUNDAYS | 2:30 pm. | 3] 23
2 s %z .7
Tenterden " From Winchelsea FRIDAYS | 2 {5 pm. | 3/6 2/9
Via Brookland and Appledore ; and
Ok Tioast Daatioation) s e SUNDAYS | 2.30 pm. | 3- 2/3
EVENING TRIPS.
6. ’
Czrcular TO!-"‘ From Winchelsea' DAILY |6.30pm. 3/- 2/3
" a len, Witersham, Rolvenden, ‘
New & P arsh, rom
‘{Half Hour at %;:t‘crdenc)asm‘“ g 635pm | 2/6 2/-
% Circular Tour :
Via Ui 3 ak Oak, Cripps F i =
e NoThibas Betisys F"m""“'mm DALY | 630p.m. |13 2/3
Pl tar al Narlhlam, S 6.35 pm. 2/6 2-
WHOLE DAY TRIP.
&  Eastbourne - <
Via Udimore, and‘ Oak, v_Cr_i[’lps b, ‘
Gamer, 1 Gl il o winshloon MONDAYS 10.15 am. | 61 46
‘\‘x‘lsL%Xlz‘:‘cgamr:on Beshill, Hast- From Rye o
{Half Hour at Pevensey. 4} Hours at Destination), |

These Coaches can be hired by Private Partiés.
14, 28, 32 seater Saloons can be hired by Hotel and Boarding House Parties at specially low rates.

_6,000/28/5/27

Terms on Application.
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! B Roap Car Company LimiTED.

SERVICE BETWEEN

DOVER & LONDON

SEPTEMBER 23RD, 1929, AND UNTIL
FURTHER NOTICE.

22, MARKET SQUARE, DOYER—DEPART:

8.30a.m.' 11.0am. 4.35[).111.
6.40,..

LONDON COACH STATION—DEPART:
(1a, Lupus Street, 8.W.1.)

9.15.. 11.30.. 2. Opm.
6.20...

FARES:
Day Period
Single Return Return

Bl g 0

London Booking Office and Departure Station : Mrssrs. LoNDoN CoAsTAL
Coacues, Lp., 1a, Lurus St., Vieroria, S.W.1. Telephone Victoria 2766.
This Service is operated subject to the Conditions and Regulations exhibited
in the Company's Public Offices and published in the Company's Official Time-
table, and passengers are only carried subject to these conditions and
regulations.

By Order,
A. BAYNTON,
Secretary and Joint General Manager.
Head Office :
18, StaTioN Roap WEsT, CANTERBURY. Telephone Canterbury 397.

T l (A
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EAST KENT

Roap Car Company LimiTED.

MAY 17th, 1929, -

and until further notice.
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EAST-KENT

Regular Motor Omnibus Services
are operated daily from

DEAL to Sandwich, Canterbury, St.
Mavrgaret’s Bay, Dover, Folkestone,
Kingsdown, Margate & Ramsgate.

g

During the Season

Well-appointed MOTOR CHAR-A-RANCS

MAKE DAILY EXCURSIONS
TO PLACES OF}INTEREST.

For fril particulars and Time Tables apply at—
THE COMPANY’S OFFICE,
Telephone : Leal 88. The Pier, DEAL.
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